
 
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE 

EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN 
SOUTHERN DIVISION 

 
MICHAEL LOWREY; and,    ) Case No.: 06-13408 
MARILYN LOWREY    )  NGE-MKM 
  Plaintiffs    ) 
       ) 
    vs.   )  Honorable 
       )  NANCY EDMUNDS 
BEZTAK PROPERTIES, INC.;   ) 
BEZTAK COMPANIES, INC.;   ) Magistrate Judge 
UPTOWN INVESTORS L.L.C.;   ) MONA MAZOUB 
MONOGRAM HOMES;    ) 
WARNER, CANTRELL, & PADMOS, INC.;  )  JURY DEMANDED 
LOONEY, RICKS, KISS, ARCHITECTS  ) 
WAYNE COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF  ) 
PUBLIC SERVICES, (WCDPS, through   
JAMES A. JACKSON, in his official capacity ) 
As Director WCDPS; and LORENZO BLOUNT,) 
in his official capacity as Wayne County  ) 
Director of Roads,      ) 
       ) 
   Defendants .   ) 
 

THIRD AMENDED COMPLAINT 
 

JURISDICTION 
 
1. This action is brought to enforce the Fair Housing Act, Title VIII of the Civil 

Rights Act of 1968, as amended by the Fa ir Housing Amendments Act of 1988 

("FHAA"), 42 U.S.C. §§ 3601-3619; Title III of the Americans with Disabilities Act 

("ADA"), 42 U.S.C. §§ 12181- 12189; and the Michigan Pe rsons With Disabilities 

Civil Rights Act (“PWDCRA”), MCL Section 37.1301 et seq.   

2. This Court has jurisdiction over this action under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 

1345, 42 U.S.C. § 3614(a), and 42 U.S.C.  § 12188(b)(1)(B).  The Cour t has 

supplemental jurisdiction over the Michi gan law claim because the claim arises 

2:06-cv-13408-NGE-MKM   Doc # 164    Filed 05/04/09   Pg 1 of 24    Pg ID 1940



 2

out of the same factual situation as the Federal claims.  Venue is proper pursuant 

to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) because the subject apartment complex and its adj acent 

facilities are located in Canton T ownship, Michigan, and each Defendant resides 

in or does business in the Eastern District of Michigan. 

PARTIES 

3. This Third Amended Complaint re flects that now former Defendant s 

BILTMORE PROPERTIES COMPANIES and the CH ARTER TOWNSHIP OF 

CANTON, MICHIGAN, have each paid m oney and settled with the Plaintiffs 

Lowrey and have each been di smissed with prejudice.  In addition, this T hird 

Amended Complaint adds as  a party-Def endant WAYNE COUNTY, through its  

Director of Public Services and its Director of Roads. 

PLAINTIFFS: 

4. Plaintiff Michael Lowery is a U.S. citizen, was a resident of the Uptown 

Apartments, and lives in Canton Towns hip, Michigan.  He has a mobility  

impairment and requires a wheelchair for ambulation.  He has attempted wit hout 

success to use Canton Township’s theater and retail district, and intends to do so 

when the district is brought into compli ance with the FHAA, AD A, Section 504 of 

the Rehabilitation Act, and the PWDCRA. He is a person with a d isability as that 

term is defined by the each of the laws at issue in this lawsuit. 

5. Plaintiff Marilyn Lowery is a U.S.  citizen and the mother of Plaintiff Mike 

Lowery.  She frequently visited Uptown Ap artments to visit and to care for her 

son, and needed to access his apartment and its adjacent parking, as well as the 

rental offices and other common use areas  of Uptown Apartments.  She needs  
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accessible parking on  accessible routes to  utilize the retail and theater district, 

and intends to patronize the district when it is made accessible according to law. 

She has mobility impairment a nd for at least ten y ears has been issu ed a 

disability placard by t he State of  Michigan.  She is a  person with a d isability as 

that term is defined by the FHAA, the ADA and the PWDCRA. 

THE CORPORATE DEFENDANTS 

6. Defendants Uptown Investors LLC, Beztak Properties, Inc., Beztak  

Companies, Inc., and Monogram Homes ar e each corporations organized under 

the laws of Michigan that conduc t business in the Eastern District of Michigan .  

Each engaged in an over-arching pattern a nd practice of discr imination against 

plaintiffs by hiring and paying private contractors to design and/or construct 

several of the inaccessible facilities challenged in this lawsuit. 

7. Defendants Warner, Cantrell, & Padmos, Inc., and Looney, Ric ks, Kiss 

designed, and/or hired private contractors to design or construct several of the 

inaccessible facilities challenged in this lawsuit. 

THE GOVERNMENTAL DEFENDANTS 

8. Defendants Wayne County Department of Public Services is a “public 

entity” as that term is def ined under 42 U.S.C. § 121 31(1); 28 C.F.R. § 35.104.  

James A. Jackson, in his offi cial capacity as Director of Wayne County’s  DPS, 

and Lorenzo Blount in his official capac ity as Director of Roads for Wayne 

County’s DPS hav e the author ity to order changes in the policies and to the 

facilities constructed on beha lf of def endant Wayne County .  Many of the  

inaccessible facilities challenged in this  lawsuit exist inside of Wayne County’s  
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ROW along Cherry Hill Road and Nort h and Sout h Ridge Ro ads, and were 

designed and built pursuant to construction permits issued by Wayne County.  

The County engaged in an over-arching patte rn and practice of discrimination 

against plaintiffs when Wayne County then inspected and acc epted the final 

facilities as built under these permits.  Thes e inaccessible facilities were built by, 

on behalf of, or for the use of  Wayne C ounty.  This Defendant is sued for 

injunctive relief, attorneys’ fees and costs—but not for damages—under the ADA 

and under Section 504 Rehabilitation Act.  Th is Defendant is sued for injunctiv e 

relief, attorneys fees, costs—and for monetary damages—under Michigan’s  

PWDCRA.  For convenience, this  combination of defendants shall be referred t o 

in this Complaint as defendant “Wayne County”.  

FACTS 

 Defendants’ Theater and Retail District—the “District”. 

9. In 1974, Congress passed the R ehabilitation Act. In 1976, Michiga n 

passed its PWDCRA, in 1988,  Congress passed t he FHAA, and in 1990 

Congress passed Title II and Title III of the ADA.  Each of t hese laws required 

defendants to meet strictly specific, detaile d, accessibility codes  when building 

ground floor apartments or public use sidewalks, parking lots and vehicular ways. 

10. More than ten years later, begi nning in y ear 2004 and continuing to 

present, each of the Defendants  designed and/or constructed their “Cherry Hill 

Village Center Theater and Retail District—the “District”.  A digital map as well as  

an aerial map of the district is attac hed hereto as Exhibits 1 and 2.  Eac h 

Defendant—ignoring each of  the detailed,  mandatory acce ssibility building 
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codes—designed and/or constructed throughout the district hundreds  of 

inaccessible curb ramps, sidewalk porti ons, parking spaces and other public  use 

facilities that vio late the Reh ab Act, F HAA, ADA, and th e PWDCRA’s 

accessibility codes.  The locations of these violations are set forth on the maps of 

the district attached hereto as Exhibits 1 and 2. 

11. The Lowreys Encounter the District.   During August 2005—when the 

district was only about one-half built and was actively undergoing massive design 

and construction—Plaintiff Mike Lowrey mov ed into Uptown Apartments which is  

located in the middle of the district.  S ee Exhibit 1, designating the location of 

Plaintiff Lowrey’s apartment.  Mr. Lowre y was the first tenant in his apartment 

building, which was still being completed when he moved in.  Mr. Lowrey and his 

mother Marilyn both have mobility impairments.   

12. Many signs and other markers throughout the District explicitly proclaimed 

that the district facilities were “handicap” accessible.  Unfortunately, the Lowreys 

quickly that each of these ma rkers was wrong; if fact, t hey discovered that there 

are hundreds of barriers to access throughout the district.  Mr. Lowrey’s 

apartment lacked any  accessible parking and any accessible route to any of 

Uptown Apartment’s common-use ameni ties.  And Uptown Apartments was 

surrounded by the district, which also lacked any accessible parking and any  

accessible routes to the di strict’s public-use amenities.  Thus, the Lowreys  were 

and remain segregated from all common-us e and public-use facilities at Uptown  

Apartments and throughout the district.  T he Lowreys intend to use the district’s 
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common use and pu blic use facilities as soon as they are made accessib le by 

law. 

13. Examples of the Di strict’s Inaccessible Facilities that are Located 
Inside the Wayne County Right of Way (ROW).   

 
 (a)  Sidewalks and curb ramps with running slopes exceeding 8.33% up to 

15%.  The federal gov ernment has conclusively stated that any portion of  
a pedestrian way with a “r unning slope exceeding 8.33% is not usable by  
most persons with disab ilities and c an not be considered p art of an 
accessible route”; 

 
(b) Sidewalks with cross slopes exceeding 12%, six times steeper than the 

maximum permitted by law; 
 

(c) Curb ramps with transitions up to three inches above the street, twelve 
times steeper than the maximum permitted by law; 

 
(d) Drainage grates located inside painted c ross walks that catch front 

wheels of wheelchairs, with openi ngs eight times wider than the 
maximum permitted by law; 

 
(e) “Handicapped” parking spaces and adjacent access aisles with slopes 

exceeding 3% and up to  12%, six times the maximum slope permitted 
by law.  In addition, not one of these parking spa ces is on an 
accessible route to anything in the district; 

 
(f) Pedestrian activation buttons located many feet from the sidewalk they 

serve, far out of reach of wheelchair users; 
 

(g) Orphan curb ramps that lack an answering curb ramp, leaving the 
Lowreys and others trapped in the intersection with no way out; 

 
Retaliation Against Lowreys By Defendants Beztak and Uptow n 
Investors LLC for Lowreys Asserting Legal Rights. 

 
14.  Despite repeated requests by the Lowreys, Defendants have refused to 

correct the vast majority of violations throughout the district.  Instead, defendants 

Uptown Investors LLC, and their empl oyees have engaged in a continuing 

pattern of harassment that includes  selective enforce ment of Uptown 
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Apartments’ policies and f iling a false police report against Mike Lowrey  on 

August 1, 2008, and then lying about it, and then continuing until they drove Mike 

Lowrey out of his apartment in the dead of winter. 

15.  Governmental Permits for District’s Inaccessible Facilities.  Some of the 

district’s facilities challenge d by the Lowreys exist within the Wayne Co unty 

Rights-of-Way (ROW) along Cherry Hill  Road and along North Ridge Road and 

South Ridge Road.  See Exhibits 1 (Map of District facilities) and 2 (Aerial Map of 

District).  For each of these facilit ies, Wayne County reviewed the design plans, 

issued permits to some of the other Defendants to construct or to otherwise 

perform work inside the County ROW,  and the County insp ected the fina l 

product.   

16.  The remaining portion of the district’s  facilities challenged by plaintiffs exist  

outside of the Wayne County RO W, and are on Canton Townsh ip property (e.g. 

parking lot “C”), or on Uptown Inv estors LLC’s property (e.g. parking lot “K”), or 

on Cherry Hill Investors LLC’s property (e.g. West Road).  For each of these 

facilities, Canton Township rev iewed the design plans, issued p ermits to build , 

and inspected and accepted the final product.   

17. Actual Construction of District’s Inaccessible Facilities.  No defendant 

actually constructed any part of t he district; instead, defendants hired and paid 

private contractors for all construction.  

(A) Canton Tow nship. Canton Township obtained written permits from 
Wayne County, and then hired and paid co ntractors to design and to build 
the great majority of the district’s i naccessible facilities located within the 
Wayne County ROW (e.g., the curb ramps, stop light, and pedestrian 
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activation buttons located at the intersection of Che rry Hill Ro ad with 
South Ridge Road); 

 
(B)  Uptown Investors, LLC, Beztak, Beztak, and Monogram.   These 

defendants hired and paid contractors to design and t o build most of 
the inaccessible facilities located north of Cherry Hill Road and eas t of 
North Ridge Road (e.g., Presidential Way, its adjacent sidewalks,  and 
parking lots “H” through “L”).  S ome of this design and construction 
(e.g., the large streetscape sidewalks fronting Liner Buildings A and B)  
took place within the Wayne County ROW, pursuant to permits i ssued 
by Wayne County to some or all of these Defendants; 

 
(C)  Biltmore Properties Company.   This former defendant hired and 

paid contractors to design and to build most of the inaccessible 
facilities located we st of No rth Ridge Road (e.g ., West Road, 
Independence Avenue and their adjac ent sidewalks, the “V illage 
Square”, and parking lots “D” through “G”);  

 
(D)  Warner, Cantrell & Padmos and Loon ey, Ricks, Kiss.  These 

defendants engineered or designed some of  the district’s inaccess ible 
facilities (e.g. the large Streetscape sidewalks fronting Liner Buildin gs 
A and B, the Villag e Square, the in tersection of Cherry Hill Roa d with 
North Ridge Road, parking lots “H” through “L”); and, 

 
(E) Wayne County.  Wayne County never hi red or paid any private 

contractor to design or to construct any portion of the district; instead, it 
issued permits to some of the ot her defendants to construct or to 
otherwise work inside the County ROW—such as issuing the permit to 
Uptown Investors LLC to build the large streetscape sidewalks fronting 
Liner Buildings A and B, as well as  the permit to reconstruct and to 
widen Cherry Hill Ro ad, North Ridg e Road, and to install the traffic 
signals and the pedestrian push buttons at the intersection of Cherry 
Hill Road with South Ridge Road. 

 
18. Township and Other Defendants Indemnify Wayne County.  As a part 

of the permitting process, the township and the corporate defendants in writing 

specifically indemnified and agreed to “hold harmless” Wayne County for any  

problems arising from the district’s facilities built within Wayne County’s ROW. 
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19. Canton Township Control of Dist rict’s Inaccessible Facilities.  Every 

inaccessible facility in the district was built pursuant to two “planned development 

agreements” (PDA).  In ex change for the township’s permission to the private 

defendants to build their re sidential housing units, these two PDA’s granted the 

township an absolute right to force def endants Biltmore, Beztak, and Uptown to 

construct each of the inacc essible facilities at issue here.  In addition,  the 

township has the responsibility to maintain each of the sidewalks at issue he rein, 

and has the right (through its “sidewalk s replacement program”) to order 

defendants Uptown to replace defective sidewalks and curb ramps located on 

those defendants’ private property.  Also, the township has per manent 

easements or other writt en agreements to use each m any of the defendant’s  

private roads and parking lots. 

20. Defendant Wayne County Facts—Intentional Violation of Controlling 
Accessibility Law and Reg ulations for purposes of monetar y relief 
under Michigan’s PWDCRA.   

 
Plaintiffs do not seek damages against Defendant Wayne County under 

the ADA or Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act.  Plaintiffs are seeking damages 

against Defendant Wayne County under Michigan’s PWDCRA.  Plaintiffs Lowrey 

allege that the township intentionally violated the controlling access ibility 

standards by ignoring those standards or by failing to ensure that the standards  

were met when the facilities  at issue in this lawsuit we re designed and 

constructed by, on behalf of, or for Wayne County’s use. 
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(a) Each of the facilities at issue herein was designed, constructed 
or otherwise altered by, on behalf or, or for the use of the 
County well after after January 2001; 

 
(b) On January 26, 1991, Title II of the ADA became effective 

against the County.  This was after a thirty month period for the 
County to become compliant with Title II; 

 
(c) By 1991, pursuant to expres s authority from Congress, the 

United States Department of Justice issued implementing 
regulations binding the County, including 28 C.F.R § 35.151, 
requiring that whenever an y facilities were design ed, 
constructed or altered by, on behalf of, or for the use of the 
township, that those facilitie s strictly meet the mandatory 
requirements of 28 C.F.R. part 36, Appendix A—the ADDAG; 

 
(d) In 1993, the Third Circuit Court of Appeals analyzed 28 C.F.R § 

35.151, and ruled that public entiti es must install curb ramps at 
all resurfaced or otherwise altered intersections.  Kinney v. 
Yerusalim.  This ruling should have put the County on notice 
that 28 C.F.R § 35.151 was binding; 

 
(e) On May 17, 2004, the United St ates Supreme Court ruled that 

28 C.F.R § 35.151 was binding on public entities, and that 
public entities must remove barriers to access in the manner set 
forth in 28 C.F.R § 35.151.  Tennessee v. Lane,  124 S.Ct. at  
1993; 

 
(f) In July/August of 2004, a pr ivate contractor hired by the 

township resurfaced the Cherry Hill and Ridg e Road S.A.D.  
Board Proceedings, June 22, 2004, Item # 9; 

 
(g) On October 1, 2004, extens ively citing Lane, the Sixth Circuit  

held that constructed or other wise altered curb ramps and 
sidewalks that violate the ADAA G/UFAS violate the ADA, and 
must be rebuilt to meet the ADAAG/UFAS.  Ability Center v. 
Sandusky, 385 F.3d at 907-908; 

 
(h) On December 14, 2004, the township voted to accept its private 

contractor’s work on the S.A.D. and to make its final payment to 
the contractor; 

 
(i) On March 24, 2006, the Michigan Department of Transportation 

(MDOT) issued it “Construction Ad visory CA 2006-03”, stating 
that up until that date, “MDOT’s [public sidewalk and curb 
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ramp] construction standards were not in full co mpliance 
with the Americans with Disability  Act Accessibility  
Guidelines [the ADAAG].  Use the new standards in all 
instances and take extra care in the construction of the  
[curb] ramp to ensure that the standard is followed” . 
Emphasis added. 

 
(j) During August 2006, the township obtained a permit from the 

County to work within the Count y ROW, and hired and pa id a 
private contractor to i nstall new sidewalks and curb ramps at 
the intersection of Cherry Hill Road with South Ridge Road, and 
running to the east.  These new sidewalks and curb ramps 
violate virtually every applicable provision of the ADAAG/UFAS 
and Michigan acces sibility standards (e.g. running slopes  
exceeding 15%, cross slopes e xceeding 8%, changes in level 
of three inches, no level landi ngs, counter slopes exceeding 
7%, etc.), and are not readily us able by and accessib le to the 
Lowreys; 

 
(k) In April, 2007, plaintiffs  served the draf t Second Amended 

Complaint purporting to add the township to this lawsuit and 
detailing myriad ADAAG/UFAS violations on township property, 
and on fa cilities built by, on be half of, or for the use of the 
township; 

 
(l) In July/August 2007, the townsh ip issued c onstruction permits 

to the private Defendants to re build sidewalks and curb ramps 
throughout the Uptown Apartments site.  The township required 
the private Defendants to meet detailed accessibility standards 
on these sidewalks and curb ramps, but at the same time the 
township itself was h iring and paying private contractors to 
install inaccessible curb ra mps and sidewalks at near its 
Farmer’s Market site.  For example; 

 
(m) In September 2007, the township obtained a permit to construct 

inside the County RO W.  See Exhi bit # 3, Affidavit of township 
Engineer Casari, and including two Wayne County Permits to 
construct, attached hereto.  Pursuant to those permits the 
township hired and paid private contractors to design and to 
construct (on the west border of its Farmers’ Market site) a new 
sidewalk and curb ramp at the intersection of Roanok e Avenue 
with North Ridge Road and running nor th.  This curb ramp is an 
“orphan ramp” that leads into  the roadway, but lacks any 
answering curb ramp, leaving the Lowreys trapped in traffic with 
no way out, and the ramp has a 10% counter slope and lacks a 
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level landing among other ADAAG/UFAS violations, and neither 
the curb ramp nor the sidewa lk is readily usable by and 
accessible to the Lowreys; 

 
(n) Wayne County Executive Robe rt Ficano—Completely 

Ignoring this Lawsuit—Personally Conducts Wayne County 
Business at Inaccessible Villa ge Theater.  Despite each of 
the above notifications that Cant on Township’s Village Theater, 
its parking, its adjacent sidewal ks and traffic signa ls violated 
each and every  accessibility requirement of the 
ADAAG/UFAS/MDOT R-28-E and MBC, on February 12, 2009, 
Wayne County Exec utive conducted his annual “State of the 
County” Address at the Village Theater.  The County advertised 
that: “The Village Theater at Cherry Hill holds about 400 people.  
The event is open to the public .”  See Exhibit # 4—Press  
Advisory.  As stated in detail ab ove, there is not one sing le 
barrier free parking s pace on an accessible route serving the 
Village Theater, and both of t he Theater’s public entrances  
grossly violate the ADAAG/UFAS accessibility codes. 

 
21. Thus, it could not be clearer that Defendant Wa yne County was on 

multiple notices that federal and Mich igan law both required the County to meet 

the ADAAG standards when de signing, constructing or otherwise altering public 

sidewalks, parking lots, and curb ramps.  Nevertheless, in late 2004 the County  

issued permits to the township to desi gn and to construct t he S.A.D. not in 

compliance with the controlling ADAAG/UFAS standards.  Also, in late 200 6 and 

again in late 2007, the County issued per mits to the township which inst alled 

brand new pedestrian push buttons, curb ramps and sidewalks within the County 

ROW at the intersections of Ch erry Hill Road with South Ridge  Road, a nd at 

North Ridge Road and Roanok e Avenue, and these c urb ramps and s idewalks 

grossly violate the ADAAG and Michigan  standards, including transition s of 

nearly three inches , running slopes ex ceeding 14%, adjoining s urfaces 

exceeding 10%, no leve l landings, etc.  The pedestr ian buttons are far outside 
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the reach of wheelchair users, includ ing Mike Lowrey.  These 2004, 2006 and 

2007 installed sidewalks and curb ramps are not usable by either of the Lowreys. 

22. Likewise, none of the curb ramps, sidewalk s and parking spaces  in the 

district are readily  usable by and acce ssible to the Lowreys, and each of these 

facilities were constructed by, on behalf of, or for the use of the township, after 

2002. 

23. The County knew t hat federal and Mic higan standards controlled 

accessibility along its  ROW in the distric t.  The Cou nty issued permits to the 

township and to Upto wn Investors LLC to build curb ramp s and barrier free 

parking spaces within the County ROW throughout the District.  This is proof that 

the township understood that there were legal requirements governing accessible 

features in public construction. 

24. Thus, although the County was on repeated notic es, and the County  

referred to some accessibility standards in design and construction of the dis trict, 

the County wantonly and egregiously failed to ensure that the sidewalks, parking 

spaces and curb ramps designed and cons tructed on behalf of, or for the use of 

the County inside its ROW met the ADAAG /MDOT standards.  And, to add insult  

to injury, on February  12, 2009, County Exec utive Robert Ficano elected to give 

his “State of the County” address at the grossly inaccessible Village Theater.  His 

calloused disregard for ac cessibility meets any negli gence, deliberate 

indifference, and/or intentionality requirements justifying an award against Wayne 

County of compensatory and other damages under Michigan’s PWDCRA. 
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COUNT 1: FAIR HOUSING ACT CLAIMS 

25. Uptown Apartments’ Ground Floor Units and their Common-Use 

Sidewalks, Vehicular Ways, Parking, and Parking Lots.  This claim is brought 

against only Defendants BEZTAK PRO PERTIES, INC.; BEZTAK COMPANIES, 

INC.; UPTOWN IN VESTORS L.L.C.; MONOGRAM HOMES; WARNER,  

CANTRELL, & PADMOS, IN C.; and L OONEY, RICKS, KISS.  Uptown 

Apartments contains r esidential apartment units that ar e "dwellings" within the 

meaning of 42 U.S.C. § 3602(b). 

26. The ground floor units at Uptown  Apartments that were designed and 

constructed for first occupancy  after Ma rch 13, 1991 are "covered multi-family 

dwellings" within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. § 3604(f)(7)(A) and are subject to the 

requirements of 42 U.S.C. § 3604(f)(3)(C).   

27. Uptown Apartments comprises appr oximately 30 buildings  containing 

residential rental dwellings built since the effective date of the acc essible design 

requirements of the Fair Housing Act. These buildings contain approximately 100 

ground floor units that are subject to t he accessibility requirements of the Fair 

Housing Act.  These units, including the one rented by Mr. Lowery were built for 

first occupancy close to the time Plaintiff Lowery moved in, and after. 

28. Defendants failed to design and to c onstruct the covered dwelling units, 

their parking, sidewalks, dog walking areas, clubhouse, pool and other common 

use and public use areas in the Upto wn Apartments and on these defendants’ 

private property in the district in such a manner that: 

2:06-cv-13408-NGE-MKM   Doc # 164    Filed 05/04/09   Pg 14 of 24    Pg ID 1953



 15

(a) public use and c ommon use portions of such dwellings ar e readily 

accessible to and usable by handicappe d persons, and are usable by most 

persons with disabilities; 

(b) all premises within such dwellings  contain the following features of 

adaptive design: 

(i) an accessible route into and through the dwelling; 

(ii) light switches, electrical  outlets, thermostats, and other 

environmental controls in accessible locations; 

(iii) reinforcements in bathroom walls to allo w later installatio n of 

grab bars; and 

(iv) usable kitchens and bathrooms such that an in dividual in a 

wheelchair can maneuver about the space. 

29. In addition, Defendants Uptown Properties LLC and its employees  

repeatedly retaliated against the Lowrey s because they asserted their rights 

under the FHAA. 

30. Defendants, through the actions described above, have: 

(a) Discriminated in the rental o f, or ot herwise made unavailable or 

denied, dwellings to Plaintiffs and to per sons because of handicap, in violation of 

42 U.S.C. § 3604(f)(1); 

(b) Discriminated against the Plaintiffs  Lowery in the terms, conditions, or 

privileges of rental of a dwe lling, or in the provision of  services or facilitie s in 

connection with the rental of  a dwelling, because of handic ap, in violation of 42 

U.S.C. § 3604(f)(2); and 
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(c) Failed to design and construct dwel lings and their accessible routes in 

compliance with the requirements mandated by 42 U.S.C. § 3604(f)(3)(C). 

31. The conduct of Defendants described above constitutes a violation of the 

Fair Housing Act. 

32. As persons who have been the vi ctims of Defendants' disc riminatory 

housing practices, Plaintiffs Michael Lowery and Marilyn Lowery are aggrieved 

persons as defined in 42 U. S.C. § 3602(i) and have suffered injuries as a res ult 

of Defendants’ conduct described above. 

33. Defendants’ conduct described above was intentional, willful, and taken in 

disregard for the rights of ot hers, including the Plaintiffs  Lowery.  Plaintiffs are 

entitled to compensatory, exemplary and punitive da mages, and attorneys fees  

and costs. 

COUNT 2: TITLE III OF THE AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT CLAIMS 

34. This count is brought against all Defendants EXCEPT  the governmental 

defendants.  Each of the corporate defendants has designed or constructed 

throughout the district numerous public use sidewalks, parking spaces, parking 

lots, park areas, vehicular ways  and sidew alks.  Some examples of these are 

designated on the Exhibit Map as Parking lots “H” through ”L”, Presidential Way, 

and the sidewalks that connect these to the retail shops and the Village T heater.  

Each of these facilities are covered by the prohibition against discrimination in 42 

U.S.C. § 12182(a), and are su bject to the design and construction requirements 

of 42 U.S.C. § 12183(a)(1) and 28 C.F.R. § 35.151.  
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35. The corporate Defendants failed to design and construct these facilities in  

such a m anner that the facilities are “readily usable by and accessible to” 

plaintiffs and other individ uals with disabilities.  A dditionally, Defendants Uptown 

Investors LLC, Smith and Doe r etaliated against the Lowreys fo r asserting their 

rights under the act; 

36. The actions of the Defendants, as described above, constitute: 

(a) Discrimination against Plaintif fs and against the majority of individua ls 

with disabilities in th e full an d equal en joyment of the services, facilities, 

privileges, and accommodations of a place of public accommodation, in violation 

of 42 U.S.C. § 12182(a); and 

(b) A failure to design and construct public accommodations in compliance 

with the requirements mandated by 42 U.S.C. § 12183(a)(1). 

37. The conduct described in paragraphs above constitutes a violation of Title 

III of the Americans  with Dis abilities Act, entitling Plaintiffs to declaratory and 

injunctive relief, and a reasonable attorneys fee and costs. 

COUNT 3: MICHIGAN PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES CIVIL RIGHTS ACT 
(PWDCRA) 

 
38. Covered Multifamily Ground Floor Apartments.   This c laim in th is 

paragraph is brought against BE ZTAK PROPERTIES, INC.; BEZTAK 

COMPANIES, INC.; UPTOWN INVEST ORS L.L.C.; MONOGRAM HOMES; 

WARNER, CANTRELL, & PADMOS, INC.; and LOON EY, RICKS, KISS.   

Plaintiffs bring this claim pursuant to  the Article 5 of the Michigan PWDCRA,  

M.C.L. §§ 37.1501- 37.1507, which requires all ground floor apartments at 
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Uptown Apartments in Cant on to meet detaile d accessibility requirements, 

including, among others, those set forth in  the Michigan Building Code, adopting 

the ICC/ANSI A117. 1-1998.  Defendants  have constructed and continue to 

operate all of the ground floor  apartments—including Plaintiff Mike Lowery’s  

apartment—to violate all applicable Michigan accessibility standards. In addition, 

defendants Uptown Investors LLC, Beztak and Bez tak retaliated against  the 

Lowreys for asserting their rights. 

39. District’s Common-use Si dewalks, Parks, Parking, Vehicular Way s. 

This claim in this paragraph is br ought against ALL DEFENDANTS. Defendants 

discriminated against Plaintiffs by desi gning, constructing, operating and/or 

maintaining the district’s remaining facilities, common use areas, features, 

vehicular ways, parking, and sidewalks servi ng the district in violation of the 

applicable Michigan accessibi lity standards and not to be accessible to a nd 

readily usable by Plaintiffs.  Solely as to Defendant Wayne County, Plaintiffs 

seek relief only for the facilities, services, programs or activities within the Wayne 

County ROW within the District. 

40. The PWDCRA entitles the plaintiffs to injunctive relief, and an award of 

damages, and attorneys fees are defined as damages under the act. 
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COUNT 4: CLAIMS AGAINST ONLY UPTOWN INVESTORS, LLC, AND THE 
BEZTAK DEFENDANTS, FOR RETALIATION AGAINST THE PLAINTIFFS 

LOWREY FOR ASSERTING THEIR RIGHTS UNDER COUNTS 1, 2, & 3 
ABOVE 

 
41.  The claim in this Count is  brought only against Defendant Uptown Invest ors 

LLC, and the Beztak  Defendants.  These defendants conspired to retaliate 

against and/or to otherwise coerce the Lowreys for asserti ng their rights under 

the three Counts above.  This conduct inc luded, but is not lim ited to, threatening 

to tow Ms. Lowrey’s  car, to remove Mr. Lowrey’s c ompanion animal from the 

Uptown Apartments, to evict Mr. Lowrey,  filing a false police report against  Mr. 

Lowrey on August 1, 2009—and then lying by denying any involv ement with the 

confrontation with police, when in fact  it was entirely instiga ted by Up town 

Apartments Manager Kelly T obin-Smith, by ratifying her retaliatory actions by 

keeping her employed after receiving inc ontrovertible proof of her retaliatory 

mendacity in the August 1, 2008 incident, by  putting her in charge of driving out 

Mike Lowrey from the Uptown Apartment s, and by driving in December 2008 

Mike Lowrey from his apartment home of three years, into the dead of winter. 

42.  Each of the three above Counts have s pecific, explicit prohibitions against 

these Defendants’ coercive, retaliatory conduct against the Lowreys, and entitle 

the Lowreys to declaratory and injunctive relief and full attorneys  fees and c osts 

under all of the Counts, as well as to compensatory, punitive and e xemplary 

monetary damages under the FHAA and under Michigan’s PWDCRA. 
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COUNT 5: CLAIMS SOLELY AGAINST DEFENDANT WAYNE COUNTY, 
PURSUANT TO TITLE II OF THE ADA, SECTION 504 OF THE 

REHABILITIATION ACT AND MICHIGAN’S PWDCRA 
 
43. This claim is brought onl y against Def endants WAYNE COUNTY 

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SERV ICES, and JAMES A. JACKSON and 

LORENZO BLOUNT, in their official capac ities.  Plaintiffs bring this count under 

Title II of the Americans wit h Disabilities Act (ADA), Section 504 of the  

Rehabilitation Act, and under Michigan law.  

44. Violations of ADA Title II.   Title II of the A DA provides that “no qualified 

individual with a dis ability shall, by reas on of such disabili ty, be exc luded from 

participation in or be denied the benefits of the services, programs, or activities of 

a public entity, or be subjected to discrimination by any such entity.”  42 U.S.C. § 

12132.  Title II of the ADA defines Wayne County DPS as a “public entity.”  42 

U.S.C. § 12131(1).  Within  its ROW, Wayne County’s  sidewalks are a public  

“service, program or activity” subject to the Act.   

45. Title II of the Americans With Dis abilities Act requires that when any  

facility (including sidewalks and barrier free parking spaces) is built or altered by,  

on behalf of, or for the use of a public ent ity after January 26, 1992, it shall to the 

maximum extent pos sible, be altered so  that it is readily usable by and 

accessible to individuals with disabilities. 42 U.S.C. §§ 12146 & 12147; 28 C.F.R. 

§ 35.151(a), (b) & (e); Ability Center of Greater Toledo v. City of Sandusky, Ohio, 

133 F.Supp. 2d 589, 591-92 (N. D.Ohio 2001), aff’d 385 F.3d 901 at 904 (6 th Cir. 

2004)(Public entities must install ADA-comp liant curb ramps at all resurfaced 

intersections).  The curb cuts, sidewalks and parking spaces must meet specific 
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federal building and design sta ndards, 28 C.F.R. § 35.151(c); Tennessee v. 

Lane, 541 U.S. 509, 124 S.Ct. 1978, 1993 ( 2004).  Many of the districts ’ 

vehicular ways, parking lots, sidewalks and other facilities within Wayne County’s 

ROW have been built by, on behalf of, or fo r the use of, Wayne County, pursuant 

to permits issued by the County.  

46. Wayne County has failed to insure that sidewalks, barrier free parking and 

curb ramps within its ROW inside the District were constructed and/or have beem 

maintained so that each is “readily us able by and accessible to” Plaintiffs.  

Among other places in the district, the sidewalks fronting Uptown Investors’ Liner 

Buildings A and B and within the Wayne County ROW along the north sidewalk  

of Cherry Hill Road and t he east side of North Ridge  Roads, suffer from cross  

slopes exceeding 11% and running slopes exceeding 14%.  T his violates both 

Title II of the ADA as  well as Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act.  See Barden 

v. City of Sacramento, 292 F.3d 1073, 1076-77 (9 th Cir. 2002), cert. denied, 539 

U.S. 958 (2003)(explaining br oad definition of “public service, program, or 

activity” under the ADA and under Sect ion 504 and finding that “maintaining 

accessibility of sidewalks for individuals with disabilities” fits that definition). 

47. By its actions complained of herein, Defendant Wayne County has 

engaged in an over-arching pattern and practice of discrimination against  

Plaintiffs due to the ir disabilities. Plaintiffs are entitled to injunctive relief against 

Defendant Wayne County ordering it to br ing each of the facilities, services, 

programs or activities inside the District and also within its ROW i nto compliance 
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according to law, to attorneys fees and cost s for pursuing this relief.  Plaintiffs do 

not seek damages under Title II of the ADA against Wayne County. 

48. Violations of Section 504 of the Rehabi litation Act.  Additionally, the 

Rehabilitation Act requires that when a public entity that receives federal funding 

builds or alters any part of a facility, it shall to the maximum extent possible, be  

made so that it is readily access ible to and usable by individuals with disabilities.  

29 U.S.C. § 794.  “[n]o otherwise qualified individual with a disability...shall, solely 

by reason of her or his di sability, be excluded from the participation in, be denied 

the benefits of, or be subjected to discrim ination under any program or activity 

receiving Federal financial assistance.”  29 U.S.C. § 794(a).  At all relevant times, 

Defendant Wayne County has  received milli ons of dollars from the federal 

government.  The Rehabilitation Act defines “program or activity” as “all of the 

operations of” a qualifying local government.  29 U.S.C. § 794(B)(1)(A). 

49. As described above, numerous facilities h ave been built by, on b ehalf of, 

or for the use of defendant Wayne County  throughout the distri ct and within the 

County ROW, without meeti ng the required accessibility standards and codes.  

Each of these failures by them has made  each of these new or altered ser vices, 

programs or activities not readily accessibl e to and usable by Plaintiffs.  By its 

actions complained of herein, Defendant Wayne County has engaged in an over-

arching pattern and practice  of discrimination against Plaintiffs due to their  

disabilities. Plaintiffs ar e entitled to injunctive relief against De fendant Wayne 

County ordering it to bring each of the faci lities, services, programs or activities  

inside the District and also within its ROW into compliance according to la w, to 
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attorneys fees and costs for pursuing this relief.  Plaintiffs do not seek damages  

under Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act against Wayne County. 

50. Violations of Michigan’s PW DCRA.  Also, the above com plained of 

failure by Wayne County to construct, alter and maintain services, programs or 

activities to be accessible to Plaintiffs also violates Michig an law at M.C.L. § 

37.1301-02.  According to the P WDCRA, Plaintiffs are entitled to compensatory, 

exemplary and punitiv e damages, as well as injunctive  and declaratory relief,  

attorneys’ fees and c osts.  The PWDCRA specifically identifies attorneys’ fees  

and costs as “damages” under the Act. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays that t he Court order against each defendant the 

appropriate injunctive, declaratory and or damages relief. 

 

       Respectfully submitted, 

 

       /s/ J. Mark Finnegan_______  
       J. Mark Finnegan (P68050) 
       Denis e M. Heberle (P64145) 
       Heberle & Finnegan, PLLC 
       2580 Craig Road 
       Ann Arbor, MI  48103 
       734-302-3233 
       734-302-3234 fax 
       hffirm@comcast.net 
 
       Attorneys for the Plaintiffs Lowrey 
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Certificate of Service 

 
I hereby certify that on this 4 th day of May, 2009 the foregoing Plaintiffs’ 

Third Amended Complaint was filed electronically.  Parties will receive  notice of 
the filing t hrough the Court’s electr onic filing system and may access  the 
document through the Court’s electronic fili ng system.  In addition it was served 
by hand-delivery upon the Wayne County Defendants at their offices. 
 
 
      /s/ J. Mark Finnegan_________ 

 24

2:06-cv-13408-NGE-MKM   Doc # 164    Filed 05/04/09   Pg 24 of 24    Pg ID 1963


